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APPENp_LX_e

NOTICE OF VIOLATION

As a rvsult of the inspection conducted on December 2,1992, and in accordance with the
" General Statement of Policy and Procedure for NRC Enforcement Actions," 10 CFR Pan 2,

,

Appendix C (Enforcement Policy) (1992), the followirig violation was identined:

|

10 CFR 35.13 states, in part, that a licensee must apply and receive a. license amendment
before it permits anyone to work as an authorized user under the license.

Contrary to the above, as of September 1991, the licensee did not apply for and receive a
license amendment prior to permitting two doctors to work as authorized users. SpeciHcally,

'

work was performed by two unauthorized users for over a year who were not listed on the [
license and did not meet the requir:ments for visiting authorized users.

This is a Severity Level IV violation. (Supplement VI)

Pursuant to the provisions of 10 CFR 2.201, the Cailisle IIospital is hereby required to
submit to this office within thiny days of the date of the letter which transmitted this Notice,

'

a written statement or explanation in reply, including: (1) the corrective steps which have
been taken and the results achieved; (2) corrective steps which will be taken to avoid funher
violations; and (3) the date when full compliance will be achieved. Where good cause is
shown, consideration will be given to extending this response time.

|

,

5

|
i.

-s

|
.

,

CARLISLE OFFICIAL RECORD COPY Pg 4 December 23,1992

|

9301110136 921223 RETURN ORIGINALTO '
[DR ADOCK 0300 2 REGloN g B:07

-_. . - . . - . . . - _ - - - . . - . - . . - -- ,-- - -. . -- - . . - . . . . - . . . .


